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This submission has been prepared by The Real Estate Institute of New South Wales 
Limited (REINSW) and is in response to the Discussion Paper on removing barriers to 
electronic land contracts, issued by the Office of the Registrar General in December 2017 
(Paper). 

REINSW is the largest professional association of real estate agents and other property 
professionals in New South Wales. It seeks to promote the interests of its members and the 
property sector on property-related issues. In doing so, REINSW plays a substantial role in 
the formation of regulatory policy in New South Wales. 

REINSW congratulates the NSW Government on issuing the Paper and for taking the time to 
consider the use of digital technology in conveyancing.   

REINSW has made previous submissions to the NSW Government in relation to the ability of 
property-related documents to be created and signed electronically. REINSW resubmits its 
position by enclosing the joint submission from the national and all State and Territory Real 
Estate Institutes dated 18 November 2015 as well as REINSW’s subsequent submission 
dated 4 April 2016.  

As set out in the enclosed submissions, REINSW suggests that simple amendments be 
made to the Electronic Transactions Regulations. If those amendments were implemented, 
they would: 

(a) enable a party entering into an e-contract with a company to rely on the same 
assumptions under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)  relating to the validity of the 
company’s execution that they can rely on if the contract were in paper form; and 

(b) remove the exemption that prevents the Electronic Transactions Act 1999 (Cth) 
(ETA)  from applying to documents required or permitted by law to be witnessed. In 
that regard, REINSW’s legal advice is that, in NSW and Queensland, contracts for the 
sale of land are not required by law to be witnessed yet other commonly used 
property-related documents must be. Such documents include deeds (for instance, a 
deed of option to purchase land) and the prescribed NSW residential tenancy 
agreement. REINSW cannot see any reason why the ETA should not apply to a 
document where a party’s signature must be witnessed. This is particularly so when 
the exemptions do not of themselves render a property-related e-contract invalid or 
unenforceable.  

REINSW submits that implementation of the simple amendments proposed in the enclosed 
joint submission is critical to improving productivity within the property industry. Property 
industry professionals and consumers would have the benefit of the Electronic Transactions 
legislation as a guide for procedure in relation to the creation, transmission and signing of 
documents electronically. The amendments would also eliminate the confusion and 
uncertainty in property-related e-commerce transactions because there would be a clearer 
understanding of the procedures governing those transactions.  

REINSW agrees that the laws dealing with property acquisition are stuck in the age of paper 
and ink. It commends the NSW Government for taking steps to bring the 20th century laws 
governing property acquisition in line with the expectations and commercial environment 
surrounding the 21st century consumer. 
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REINSW appreciates the opportunity to provide this submission and would be pleased to 
discuss it further, if required.  

Yours faithfully 

Tim McKibbin 
Chief Executive Officer 
The Real Estate Institute of New South Wales Limited 






























